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INTERVIEW FOR HEALTHTALKONLINE 
EXPERIENCES OF ANTIDEPRESSANTS 

I = INTERVIEWER 
[bookmark: _GoBack]R= RESPONDENT (DINA)

Tape 1 

I:	If you could just start by telling me, you know, the first time that you needed to go and seek help for depression or when you first experienced it and what happened.
0.26
R:	[Um] I think, well not think, I’m sure that clinically it was the [um] summer of 1991 [um] I was here doing a masters degree having come from Greece that year, you know the September of the year like 1990. So [um] it was the summer as I said 1991 [um] I guess my, at the time I didn’t, well I knew about depression but not that… I didn’t, I didn’t know about symptoms or about the cause of the condition or anything so, and it started with an inability to sleep, insomnia and [um] tiredness but it was basically insomnia and I remember I went to [um] the GP at Queens Medical Centre in Nottingham where I was, where I was doing my PhD.

I:	Can I just interrupt briefly and say one; I mean not that it matters on this particular name but [um] we ask you if possible not to mention place names or people’s names, so you say a hospital in a big city or the doctor, the consultant, my mum rather than a name.

R:	Yes.

I:	That’s fine okay, just so you’re not identifying them.
1.48
R:	So I asked, so I went to see the GP and I talked to her about my sleep problems and I guess I wasn’t also able to work, I wasn’t able to concentrate and she gave me sleep tablets which weren’t particularly helpful because as I realised later on the, the sleep [um] disturbance is part of that, of my syndrome so yes I mean basically it is interesting though, I don’t remember her going through and asking me other, other questions to look at the whole picture [um] I mean it’s far back so, you know, but I think that stayed with me at the time. Anyway I, I mean you know, I went back to her and again I, you know, my, you know, my sleep problems, my insomnia went really, really bad and I had panic attacks I,I was staying in a block of flats at university in sort of accommodation and [um] it was, you know, like a very small room, you know, kind of communal flat and I remember going up and down pacing in the room so really, I mean you know, panic attacks and thinking something awful is going to happen to me, I wasn’t suicidal at the time but I was thinking that, you know, something awful is going to happen.

 [Um] and then I had all the clinical sort of symptoms [um] like loss of interest in life really and not wanting to wash, not wanting to eat, not being able to eat, not having so [um] it got to a point where I phoned my parents in Greece and I said I need to come home. 
3.49
So I went home, I went back to Greece [um] and that was July 1991 [um] and it was there [um] where I was prescribed [um] antidepressants [um] for the first time. I remember [um] I mean I was in a really bad state I was very ill and [um] and of course that was kind of developing over time it wasn’t like something that, you know, I didn’t become like that, you know within a month but it was something that, it was creeping up and because I wasn’t aware I couldn't recognise the signs. [Um] so I remember [um] I went to an out patients sort of department in a hospital in Greece and I don’t remember whether the doctor there prescribed anything, probably he did but I don’t think I took anything then, and I went to see a private [um] a private psychiatrist. 
5.02
[Um] and I remember, I mean at the time it was the [um] the old, you know, the Tricyclic sort of generation of antidepressants so I don’t remember the name of it [um] but it was one of those and, but also he prescribed like a cocktail of other things, it was a sleep tablet which was quite strong I think [um] called halcion [um] later it was withdrawn [um] from the market for some reason. [Um] so I yes I [um] I took the [um] antidepressants I guess I was probably on a high dose but I don’t remember now [um] and [pause 3 secs] [um] apart from the antidepressants and that [um] that the, you know, the sleep tablets I think I was probably prescribed a beta blocker as well [um] and yes and it I think the other interesting thing was that [um] when the psychiatrist was on leave and I went to see somebody [um] you know instead [um] because I still wasn’t sleeping it was like, the insomnia was kind of driving me bonkers [um] I think he prescribed, I don’t remember the name but I think that later I kind of checked it and it was something that catatonic schizophrenics are prescribed so, but still it didn’t work, this thing would kill an elephant but it didn’t send me to sleep. So [um] 

I:	It was for sleeping?
7.14
R:	Yes well it was probably I mean, you know, it was possibly an antipsychotic, I don't know because at the time I wasn’t really familiar with, you know, the drug stuff so I don’t know what it was but yes it was for sleep but again it kind of shows that people were not necessarily aware that the sleep was just part of the whole thing. Anyway I think [um] I mean the antidepressants, the antidepressant that I took kind of worked [um] at the same time I started seeing a psychotherapist [um] in Greece only for a while because I wanted to come back here to finish my masters so I came back here five months later and I did finish my masters and by 1992 I came off the antidepressants.

I:	Did you continue to take the same one that you’d been prescribed in Greece?

R:	Yes, yes.

I:	Was it, you had to get a prescription from a UK GP?

R:	No I think probably my, you know, my parents were sending me the, you know. But I think [um] once a I came here it was only a few months more that I took that, I don’t, I hadn’t changed, I don’t remember changing [um] yes so that was my first [um] sort of experience of psychiatric medication which was just, was I guess if you haven’t taken these drugs before then you, they’re really, really strong things and [um] you know obviously the side effects like, you know, the constipation and the dry mouth and, you know, gaining weight not massively but gaining weight [um] and that, that experience of taking these, you know, very strong whatever they were, you know, I only took one and I thought I was like, you know, it was my head was heavy and it was, it was as if I had drunk 20 bottles of wine it was really.

I:	Constantly or do you mean when you say you only took one that was the effect after taking just a couple of the tablets initially?
10.00
R:	Yes, yes, yes not the, not the antidepressant but the, you know, that thing that this, this other psychiatrist gave me, you know, to sleep… and I think it was probably antipsychotic I don't remember and I can’t say now but [um] I think that was the, I mean the worst effect I think, I can sort of remember from that time. [Um] yes that was, that was the first time.

I:	And then can you tell me after that when you were back in the UK and you went on and did your masters, what’s happened since then have you, clearly you wanted to be back and see the GP here and being prescribed more medication.

R:	[Um] well the a lot of things happened I mean [um] after I finished my [um] masters [um] I was feeling quite well and I [um] sort of, I continued to see a psychotherapist for a long, long time, I remember going back to London from Nottingham to see this guy, who apparently was very famous but I didn't know that at the time [um] and it was like psychoanalytical like psychotherapy which I had for about eleven years.

I:	Did you pay for that privately then?
11.17
R:	Yes, [um] but to, I mean you know to give him his sort of due [um] he charged me very little and he never put the price up for a, you know, in the eleven years that I know, I’ve known him and he knew that I was a student and I was paying, you know, to start with I was going down twice a week so it was quite, you know, the cost was quite high but it saved my life so, you know, it was like, so it wasn’t the drugs that saved my life it was that I guess. Well perhaps the antidepressants worked to start with and, you know, kind of lifted my mood but I don’t think it was the, I think it was, you know, the work that I did in therapy that helped me to be able to, you know, finish that masters and then I went on and did a doctorate and.

I:	And you did all those achievements, but you weren’t taking antidepressants at the time?
12.20
R:	No. No and then the second time that I took and I’m still taking antidepressants [um] was in 2008 [um] I mean that was a lot more severe, so I had stayed well for 17 years. I mean, you know, obviously sometimes I would feel, I was feeling anxious and low but I, it wasn’t a clinical sort of episode never… it was, you know, feeling anxious and kind of upset and low but [um] then in 2008 in the summer [um] I had just moved to Manchester, not here but to, I was living in, is it okay to say where I was living?

I:	No just say in another place.

R:	Another place alright. [Um] and at the time there were a lot of [um] sort of stresses in my life and [um] I don’t think there’s any point in going through why it happened to me and what happened to me but [um] I mean I can tell, I can say if, you know, if you want me to.

I:	It’s up to you if you want to reveal that or not.
13.48
R:	[Um] as I, you know, I think it’s probably useful to say that again it’s something that, you know, developed over time because it was a combination of [um] fears around my physical health because two years previously I had been diagnosed with Crohn’s Disease and I became whenever I had a flare up and obviously stress creates flare ups it was very frightening for me so it was fears around that and then [um].

I:	Can you [um] elaborate on what the symptoms of Crohn’s Disease were?

R:	[Um] yes [um] well I mean, you know, again in 2006 when I was diagnosed with Crohn’s I was very, very ill then and [um] but, you know, the usual symptoms for flare ups were sort of urgent  and yes for me it was urgent diarrhoea and, you know, the slightest sort of [um] sign of urgent diarrhoea is like, you know, really frightened and thinking oh my God, you know, I’m going to go back to being so ill and.

I:	Were you hospitalised at all?

R:	Yes, yes for Crohn’s yes.

I:	And so did you [um] were you, do you take medication for that?

R:	Yes, yes.

I:	Right.
15.32
R:	Yes I do take [um] I mean at the time [um] before I had the episode of depression I was able to take [um]… whenever I had flare ups I was able to take steroids but after the depressive episode because there were some psychotic elements and because steroids can sort of exacerbate psychotic sort of tendencies or whatever you want to call that I wasn’t able to take steroids but you know there were other drugs that I was on and am on. 

I:	Have you been given a diagnosis of anything in particular?

R:	For what?

I:	Well in terms of your depression.

R:	Oh yes, yes.

I:	Is it classed as clinical depression?
16.25
R:	Yes, yes of course, well I was, well there’s a story behind it.

I:	Okay.

R:	In 2008 [um] well again the same symptoms started with [um] sort of not being able to sleep and [um] so I went to see, I was new here [um] in this area in Manchester and I went to see a GP who I think shouldn’t be there. So he, well he was awful in the way he was sort of [um] kind of approaching somebody who was so distressed but apart from that [um] so he prescribed fluoxetine [um] so, you know, I took fluoxetine for two or three weeks, I went back to him and said look [um] I can’t sleep, you know, I haven’t slept for a month or two months now so I, you know, give me some sleeping tablets or, you know, zopiclone or whatever they prescribe and he would say oh you know we don’t do that. Anyway in the end he gave me some but again they didn’t work and I was trying to [um] convince him to [um] refer me to a psychiatrist and he wasn’t referring me to a psychiatrist saying that I need to give the tablets time to work and I was saying look I’ve been there I know I need to see a psychiatrist so anyway I changed GP thank God. So [um] this GP [um] I think if he was to start treating me, at the time he said to me that he would have used the citalopram instead of the fluoxetine, but anyway I was on fluoxetine and continued with the fluoxetine, I was referred to a private psychiatrist because I wanted to see a private psychiatrist – mistake…. anyway, and so to cut the story short [um] I was basically deteriorating with [um] being given various drugs that I wasn’t taking basically.

I:	Various drugs for, apart from the fluoxetine?
18.54
R:	[Um] well it’s yes apart and not instead I think apart, for example [um] that private psychiatrist that I saw [um] she suggested I started, was it her that started me on mirtazapine, I think it was, you see I mean because I was so unwell at the time it’s very difficult to remember chronologically what happened first.

I:	Did you take these in addition to or instead of the fluoxetine?

R:	[Um] I think it was in addition [um] I think, I guess at some point it was instead.

I:	Did the fluoxetine dose remain the same or was that altered at all?
19.39
R:	No that was altered. And it was interesting with the fluoxetine because [um] you know, when I was taking the fluoxetine [um] I started, I’m not saying that it was because of the fluoxetine but knowing all this stuff in the press about the link between the [um] fluoxetine or… I think a similar drug and suicide, I had very, had very sort of intense [um] suicidal thoughts.

I:	Had you had those previously before you sought help for your depression at that point?

R:	No, no. And interestingly I didn’t have them in my first episode of depression, I remember being really, really ill but not wanting to, you know, [um] do away with my life and [um].

I:	Did it stay as thoughts, did you do anything take any action?

R:	It stayed as thoughts [um] which were sort of floating and, you know, coming and going [um] and that continued [um] you know, from July until [um] December. [Um] in the meantime I went from the private psychiatrist to see [um] an NHS psychiatrist and I was under a crisis team.
21.13
I:	That was a referral from your GP, was it?

R:	Yes.

I:	And was that because of the increased anxiety and suicidal thoughts?

R:	Yes, yes [um] the crisis team were useless I think [um] although the psychiatrist was very good [um].

I:	What support did the crisis team offer?

R:	Just [um] just coming round to give me the medication and.

I:	To give you?

R:	Yes to give me because they thought they said I had to take it physically in front of them because I mean I didn’t want to take my medication I’m, you know who wants to take their medication?

I:	So this was mirtazapine you think?
21.59
R:	[Um] I think by that point it was mirtazapine [um] you see again I don’t remember [um] but I think it was Mirtazapine.

I:	It wasn’t an antipsychotic at that point?

R:	Again [um] I don’t remember when it was then that I started on olanzapine or it was when I was sectioned and being in hospital later.

I:	Oh okay.

R:	So I don’t remember.

I:	So at that point they were coming round and trying to insist you took the medication?

R:	Yes they, basically the only thing that they were doing were to bring the drugs and insist that I take the drugs which of course I did.

I:	And was your [um] was your diagnosis always clinical depression or did it change?
22.43
R:	[Um] at the time it was although I didn’t know the diagnosis, the official diagnosis from, you know, having been through depression, clinical depression before having done a PHD on depression in the teenagers, I could say that it was clinical depression but, and I think it was [um] I mean, you know, I had all the symptoms I had, you know, more than all the symptoms so. [Um] you know, I was totally unmotivated, you know, like, you know, well basically , you know, wanted to, thinking about jumping off the bridge, you know, so I was very, very, very  depressed and.

I:	And was it constant or was it like a bipolar type, no it wasn’t bipolar?

R:	No, no it was constant.

I:	Was it a CPN that was coming round to give you your medication, do you know, what?
23.36
R:	[Um] there were various people [um] from all these conglomerate of people that used to come round. There were a couple of people who were decent and were trained nurses I think and one social worker but the rest of them it’s like, you know, being off the street, I don’t know where they found them, you know. [Um] I know it sounds very [um] I know that, you know, in other places these crisis teams are brilliant so it’s like a lottery, you know, with these things. [Um] so actually now I’ve got an advanced directive where I’ve said that a) I don’t want to have ECT and b) I don’t want to be under a crisis team again if the crisis team is to be in this city.

I:	Is that legally binding?

R:	Yes [um] well.

I:	It’s a statement of your wishes?
24.37
R:	It’s a statement, I think [um] if I was to be sectioned again they can override that, they can, you know, but they have to give reasons I think.

I:	How did you come about, how did the section?
25.03
R:	Right the section [um] well as I said, you know, I was really deteriorating and apparently at the time my GP, that’s what I found out later from him when we, you know, we talked about it thinking he was considering or suggesting ECT because I was just, which I was very surprised at that because I didn’t think he would be in favour of ECT but anyway.

I:	The GP suggested it?

R:	Yes, he said he was about to because I was kind of, you know [um] kind of very, very ill and I thought well I mean he never suggested that I see a psychologist for instance, you know, why, you know, why go to ECT straight away?

I:	What was it, how was ECT expected to help your situation do you know?
25.58
R:	I think, well I guess I mean thank God I mean they didn’t give me ECT but I think [um] that I guess with, you know, some evidence of people with severe depression and, you know, at the edge of suicide having all their memories wiped and that helps them, I don't know [um] I don't know, you know, no one explained to me why but I remember that whilst I was seeing the crisis team I was seeing the psychiatrist who was a very decent guy I think and, you know, [um] a very kind of gentle person and he actually said to me that, you know, we are trying a lot of drugs because I think as I said they had changed, perhaps, certainly they had changed the fluoxetine but I don’t, and introduced mirtazapine [um] I don't remember whether they had introduced olanzapine by that time but the message was that because my depression was, treatment ‘resistant’ in inverted commas [um] he sort of explained to me that that was towards the end of that year that, you know, if the drugs don’t work then the next line of treatment would be either lithium or ECT.

I:	Did you at the time know anything about those drugs, the lithium or anything?
27.48
R:	[Um] no I didn’t [um] I mean, you know, he said that [um] you know, we’re not, he wasn’t saying ‘we’re giving them to you now’ but he was saying that yes it was a kind of warning, you know, that these are like, this is the last resort kind of thing. [Um] anyway I mean in January the next year, 2009 [um] as I said, you know, one morning I, you know, went to the kitchen and I wanted to take a knife [um] I don’t know whether I would have actually killed myself but obviously I wanted to, I mean it’s funny but I can’t, I don’t remember much from that time. I do remember the scene in the kitchen with my mum and we was [um] in England at the time to look after me and my boyfriend at the time who was, you know, at home having, you know, visiting from another city. And, you know, I remember kind of trying to kind of block, block the, you know, the cupboards so [um] I won’t… get the knife and I think he phoned [um] to this day I don’t know whether he actually phoned an ambulance or he phoned the crisis team I don't know who he phoned. 
29.30
Anyway an ambulance, well actually the police came… I don't know how many police, police people or policemen, so the police came and they saw that there was nothing, nothing going, there was no, basically there was talk of a knife but there was no knife, they left. [Um] then the [um] well the ambulance came [um] and I was taken to an assessment unit which is in the centre of this place, this city [um] and again I don’t remember a lot but I remember people trying to restrain me like, you know, sort of stop me from leaving because I wanted to leave [um] I wasn’t, I didn’t have time to get dressed, I think I was in my pyjamas and, you know I was in just a jacket and my pyjamas I was wearing. [Um] apparently an ‘approved’ mental health professional came and assessed me though I don’t remember that [um] and then he recommended, actually I asked my social worker later, my care co-ordinator… to find out who came and assessed me or did someone come and assess me because I don’t remember anybody and apparently they did a very short assessment because I guess I wasn’t in a kind of place to answer a lot of questions, I don't know. [Um] then I remember the [um] one of the, it was probably the section 12 doctor, as I knew later, I didn't know any of that at the time didn't know all these terms [um] so he asked me [um] we had to wait for him [um] so he asked me whether I wanted to go to hospital and I said no and he said then you're going to be detained under the mental health act, didn’t explain to me what that meant, what section 2 means. 



31.55
[Um] apparently I was assessed then I was transferred to [um] to the hospital where I was detained [um] and the diagnosis was psychotic depression [um] so I stayed, I stayed there for three months.

I:	Do you know what distinguishes clinical depression from psychotic depression, what makes those two things different?
32.31
R:	[Um] well I guess, I guess that psychotic depression is that I have psychotic symptoms which was like unusual beliefs or delusions if you like that, you know, I kind of had an obsession with money whereas …had an obsession with money so, you know, I, you know, I used to say that [um] my bank account doesn’t exist that people were, you know, like against me and people were exploiting me financially, obviously these things had some roots in reality [um] I mean it all wasn’t random why I mean, you know, if I had other life experience or I wouldn’t be having the delusions.

I:	So it was just distorted thinking around the things that you ….x?

R:	Yes, yes I mean, you know, yes and I guess I had experienced financial exploitation or something’s that was registered in my psyche as financial exploitation by particular person earlier in life and of course then it was kind of generalised under acute distress it became generalised and I thought that, you know, everybody was exploiting me financially and, you know, my bank account doesn’t exist and that the crisis team had access to my bank account and things like that.

I:	Yes, yes. So then were you given lithium at that point when you were sectioned?

R:	No, no, no, no I wasn’t given lithium then
End of tape 1

Tape 2
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 [um] at that time I think, again I don’t remember what cocktail of things I was on but [um] definitely I was on olanzapine because I had started ballooning, like you know putting on a lot of weight.

I:	And do you know what the olanzapine is or did you know then?

R:	[Um] at the time no [um] I knew, well yes I knew what I could read on the, you know, on the what you call it.

I:	The leaflet.

R:	The leaflet but you know nobody had really.

I:	And was that for your depression or, what was that?

R:	No that was for the psychotic.

I:	It was an antipsychotic

R:	Yes that was the psychotic. [Um] so I was on the olanzapine and I was on mirtazapine, probably they had, no definitely they had introduced the venlafaxine then.

I:	This is another antidepressant

R:	Yes, and I was also taking a… oh what are they called, like a tranquiliser but a, yes like a tranquiliser to calm me down, I don’t remember the name.

I:	Was it diazepam or something like that?
1.23
R:	No it wasn’t one of those no it was, I don’t remember it; I don’t remember what it was. [Um] and [um] so I came out of hospital [um] in three months time [um] I was the CPN….not CPN.., you know, my care co-ordinator said later I was, you know, hospital didn’t do me any good.

I:	So the time when you were in hospital you were taking your cocktail of drugs more regularly than, or where you adhering to that regime?

R:	Well you have to.

I:	Yes and then were you offered other therapies at the same time or that was the treatment?
Tape 2   2.09
R:	And thankfully they didn’t decide to give me ECT because they couldn’t give me ECT because I was, it would have been very easy to give me ECT, I mean I looked at my records, I requested my records later on and I read through [um] there was a question giving me ECT but thank God it wasn’t, you know, it wasn’t given.

I:	If you had been, if that had been in question whilst you were sectioned would you have been able to make a choice on that or was that?

R:	No.

I:	It would have been imposed on you?

R:	Probably yes or it would have been very difficult not to. Because at the time I, you know, I was considered as not having the capacity, you know, or not having the insight.

I:	No.

R:	So it would have been very difficult not to.

I:	It sounds like you were quite relieved that that didn’t happen.
Tape 2   2.58
R:	Oh yes of course I was horrified when I, because I know, I mean I was talking to a psychologist that I saw later, a lot later on because I insisted not because I was offered [um] I insisted to see a psychologist and I saw a psychologist for two and a half years which is very long for NHS, so I was quite lucky from that.

I:	And was that a psychologist from the community mental health team?

R:	It was...

I:	Not from the crisis team but it would have been a referral under the mental health team.

R:	[Um] and she was saying it would have been difficult to kind of [um] oppose that unless I, I don’t know I had an advocate, nobody told me that I could have an advocate [um] nobody told me that I could appeal my sectioning, nobody told me what a section was, I only figured out that you don’t go out by trial and error… because I escaped twice.

I:	Gosh, I think we need to stick to the drugs.

R:	Okay yes.

I:	Otherwise we’ll be here all day.

R:	Yes.

I:	[Um] so when you left after the three months and you were still taking the medication?

R:	Yes.

I:	The ones that you’d been prescribed in the hospital.

R:	Yes.

I:	And then did you change back to the care of your GP or the mental health team.

R:	No, the mental health team ..

I:	And did you continue to take all of that medication for a while?

R:	Yes, yes for a.........

I:	Continuously.

R:	 For a while continuously yes, yes. I mean by that time I was taking the medication.

I:	And so on your ‘release’ from hospital where you improved, was your situation any different?

R:	No.

I:	You were still experiencing the psychotic tendencies?

R:	[Um] not so much the, well not so much the psychotic but the.

I:	The depression.
Tape 2    4.48
R:	The depression, the lack of, the lack of interest the, but having said that though [um] I did push myself, for example, go to [um] art mental health art projects that I had asked to be referred and that was brilliant that was a really good, but.. I mean because my mood was so low I had to push myself to go but I did go.

I:	And all the while you were continuing to take the antidepressants and did you notice that they had any positive effect on you or, you know, it doesn’t sound….?

R:	[Um] to be honest no.

I:	And did you continue to have side effects from any of those?
Tape 2   5.38
R:	Well yes I mean I continued, I mean, you know, to well [um] you know, the weight gain I guess mirtazapine is notorious for that and of course olanzapine that I was on [um] still [um] for two years I had no periods, what others [um] but that was through the antipsychotics I don’t think the antidepressants had the same effect on the menstrual cycle.

I:	Does the Crohn’s have any effect on any of that?

R:	No.

I:	I was just wondering what the, was there any co-ordination between the care that you were receiving for your Crohn’s and the medication; you’re obviously being medicated by a consultant at the hospital for that.

R:	[Um] yes.

I:	I just wondered was there some kind of continuity between them knowing the other drugs that you were taking and?
Tape 2    6.35
R:	Yes I mean as I said when I was on the anti, the psychiatric drugs I couldn’t be on [um] steroids and because my Crohn’s had flared up badly when I was in hospital, sectioned, partly because of the stress and party because I was in a way harming myself through eating the wrong things, for example, you know, I was eating fruit that I hadn’t peeled whereas you.

I:	You have to watch your diet with the Crohn’s.

R:	Yes, yes you have to yes, you’ve got to, yes you have to. So, you know, and then when I came out of hospital I was drinking coke and I was eating hamburgers and, you know, you shouldn’t be eating these things which was again a form of self- harm I think, you know, like doing to that extent. So I think the first time, oh and at some point [um] because of the weight gain they changed the olanzapine to aripiprazole which is another antipsychotic drug but apparently it doesn’t have that effect, the weight gain. [Um] but the first time after all this time, you know, like since summer 2008 the first time that I sensed any difference from a medication was when I started lithium. [Um] I’m, not saying that it was just the lithium that, you know, helped.

I:	Did you come off the other drugs when you started taking the lithium?

R:	No.

I:	Because you’ve got, you’re currently taking venlafaxine and lithium?
Tape 2    8.31
R:	Yes when I started taking lithium I think I was also taking the aripiprazole and I was taking the mirtazapine and gradually I came off the aripiprazole and I came off the mirtazapine and I came off the tranquilliser as well, I think the tranquiliser I came off first, you know.

I:	So you’ve taken a variety of different combinations of things that’s hard to keep track of…. and [um] I’m sure that whilst you were actually feeling very ill although it’s quite difficult to remember all of these.

R:	Yes it’s very difficult, I mean, you know, even looking at my records you can’t, because my records, I mean the way they, this is for another interview of course but I mean it’s not necessarily very clear so but the, what I think I understood is that there was like a sort of change of medication because they thought that my depression was ‘resistant’, ‘treatment resistant’ but they haven’t exhausted all the treatments, there was no, I mean you know, only when I asked for referral to a psychologist and that was well after when I started lithium and all that, that happened. I mean, you know, I had continued seeing several therapists all these years since, you know my first episode of depression [um] so I knew how beneficial that is.

I:	Lithium?

R:	No, no, no therapy.

I:	Oh I see.

R:	No, no the therapy.

I:	Right yes.

R:	No no, I mean lithium…..

I:	So overall what’s your view about the [um] the benefits of taking antidepressants because you just said that you could see benefits in your talking therapy.

R:	Yes.

I:	What overall, is it like a combination for you that helps you?.
Tape 2    10.37
R:	Well, well I think, you know, it was a very, very [um] distinct effect that lithium had when I started taking it and it was kind of quick as well.

I:	Can you describe that effect?

R:	You know, a lot like my mood being lifted.

I:	Okay.

R:	You know, but on the other hand though at the same time I had spent some time at the mental health arts project, I’d started thinking that I want to go back to work, you know, it was like a combination of things.

I:	So you mean it’s hard to pin down exactly what the mood change?
Tape 2     11.23
R:	Yes but I do think because it was so dramatic that, you know, although I mean from my reading I understand that, you know, they don’t really know how lithium works or they don’t really know how any of these drugs work and why ….[um] I think the lithium was an important factor I mean that was what my psychiatrist says and I probably believe it and he says that without being somebody who is very much kind of a ‘medical model’ person because I mean  you know, he was very much psychologically minded and, you know, I mean he was always, you know, when I’d started kind of recovering it was, I mean, you know, questions about the medication were coming last in our session, it was first how are you doing, how are you feeling, you know, it wasn’t.

I:	Does it feel very different being under the care of somebody who does take the more holistic approach?

R:	Yes of course, yes I think yes I think I was very lucky to [um] to be seen by him.

I:	So you’re, you started, you just used the word recovery, you started feeling better at some point and that was around about when your drugs were changed to take the lithium?

R:	Yes.

I:	But also alongside that you were seeing a psychologist who has worked with you ….?
Tape 2    12.54
R:	No, no at the time, no I hadn’t started seeing the psychologist but I think, you know, I as I said I was going to this, this art mental health thing and I mean that was really, really vital for me.

I:	And was that, was it helpful, in what way was that helpful?

R:	[Um] well in many different ways because, you know, [um] in terms of feeling that I could create things or because it was like, it was like, you know, an arts….sort of project and it was [um] you know, kind of [um] feeling that, you know, the way you can manipulate materials, I mean you know you can effect change so it was like a metaphor of perhaps how my mind, my life, my mood can change and also the social aspect of it because I was quite socially isolated, I was off work for two years, I was very ashamed of what was going on because I was, you know, I was very, very ill. [Um] I had lost contact with all my friends so you can imagine that that was vital, you know, for me to go to that place where other people were in the same sort of situation.

I:	So listening to your story it took a long while to find the right combination of medication, to keep you on a level and I don’t know whether it’s actually improved your feelings, your state of mind or if it’s just …..
Tape 2    14.40
R:	Well now yes, you know, I mean now, I mean it’s like [um] since because I started taking lithium [um] at the beginning of 2010, so it’s like two and a half years now and I feel very well I went back to work [um] I’ve been back for, for a couple of years [um].

I:	And you still take also the venlafaxine for your depression?

R:	Yes, yes.

I:	And does that suit you as an antidepressant?
Tape 2    15.05
R:	I think so it seems to but again now [um] I mean my understanding is that when you first start taking these things because I mean you know with the lithium of course it’s the toxiticy of it like, you know, I have to go and have [um] blood tests every few months [um] you know this is a very toxic drug, I mean a very good drug apparently but it’s a  very toxic drug.

I:	That’s the lithium?

R:	The lithium yes. So you know it has to be monitored and, you know, I mean I don’t know whether I have to be on this, you know, for the rest of my life or I guess I’ll have to kind of negotiate with the psychiatrist [um] well this psychiatrist left so I had, you know, I’m kind of having to see somebody else which is off sick and so I saw somebody in her place and, you know, and I don’t know I hope [um] you know next time I can see her.

I:	So how often does your medication get reviewed?

R:	[Um] 

I:	Do you go?

R:	Now it’s every four to six months.

I:	Do you instigate appointments or do you get called in?
Tape 2   16.26
R:	No I [um] no I think they send me appointments. If I want to, if I want appointments I could always go and see the guy [um] you know, my old psychiatrist but [um].

I:	And do you still …troubled with side effects that you said about dry mouth?

R:	No not now not dry mouth no.

I:	Any side effects from venlafaxine I suppose because that is an antidepressant.

R:	Yes. No I don’t well I guess, you know, I suppose because I’ve taken them for so long perhaps up to a certain point your body does adjust and you don’t feel.

I:	You’ve never been in the situation were you’ve just stopped taking antidepressants, or have you without?


Tape 2    17.13
R:	No [um] I guess before I went into hospital [um] and I was seeing a private psychiatrist who I didn’t trust and, you know, [um] I was skipping medication I wasn’t taking it [um] for example this trazodone that she had…. which was a tricyclic, the old school [um] I didn’t take regularly.

I:	Is that the one that you were prescribed in Greece trazodone?

R:	No.

I:	So that was one that you had since coming back here?

R:	Yes.

I:	You’ve [um] did you experience any difficulties at the times when you stopped taking them suddenly, did that have any adverse effect?
Tape 2    18.04
R:	I don’t know, I don’t remember you see because it was at the time when there was, there were quite a lot of changes in the medication and I don’t, I don’t know. I don’t know what it was my actual, the cause of my condition and what it was the effect of the medication.

I:	Overall I mean if you look in, at the course of your sort of medical medication history, what’s your overall opinion at how things have been dealt with and what the different drugs that have been prescribed and tried?
Tape 2 18.42
R:	[Um] [pause 3 secs] I think [pause 5secs] I think [um] it would have been helpful if, you know, the psychiatrist or the GP or, you know, a nurse or, you know, had kind of explained to me more about the side effects because [pause 3secs] I mean I was never given a choice, I mean the choice yes I guess the choice would have been not to take them but there was no, no negotiation of like [um] [pause 3 secs] for example, I mean ECT’s a classic [um], you know sort of example of this. It’s like, because the ECT was mentioned again after I was out of hospital and I went to see [um] a ‘specialist’ inverted commas I guess, probably she is a specialist, in affective disorders [um] and which is like a kind of specialised unit in the hospital here, the central hospital. And she said to me ‘oh you know you’re very ill still’ and I was very ill still from the way I was moving, from the way I was sitting, you know, all that. She said oh, you know, ‘perhaps we need to [um], you know, need to [um] consider ECT and it’s very safe now and it’s not done as it used to be done, you know, and they’re doing it in suites and thing’s and I was going ‘no’. And [um] but she wasn’t saying but on the other hand you know there are serious side effects from ECT which is loss of memory and this is, you know, this is something that is documented.

I:	This is really interesting actually, my colleague is doing a similar project to mine about ECT so you may want to, I can put you in touch with her because that story is a different story, and obviously it’s not about medication.

R:	Yes.

I:	But it’s something that we’re actually doing another project on.

R:	Yes I know. But I wasn’t given ECT.

R:	No the project actually is also interviewing people who have been offered or talked about the possibility of having it...

R:	Ah right yes.

I:	Yes because we want to hear the views of people who didn’t want it for example.

R:	Oh yes definitely.

I:	So we’ll leave that aside.

R:	I’m happy to talk your colleague yes.

I:	We’ll just stick to the talk about medication.
Tape 2      21.32
R:	Again as medication for example nobody told me that, you know, the olanzapine again this is not an antipsychotic drug this is not an antidepressant but, nobody told me that, you know olanzapine has, you know, it’s so I mean with the weight gain people are developing diabetes and there is, there is actually I think [um] against  Lily…. [um] Li Lily….the company that produces the company that produces olanzapine there’s actually [um] what do you call it a suit.

I:	[Um] a law suit.

R:	A law suit of people who, you know, developed because of the obesity developed you know like severe things like diabetes.

I:	I guess diet is quite important in the scheme of things with your Crohn’s.
Tape 2    22.19
R:	Yes, yes of course yes but I mean, you know, and I guess you know the weight gain again is one of the, like the mirtazapine I think out of all the antidepressants that I’ve taken it’s probably the [um] the one that has, you know, caused the most weight gain, you know. And again of course the weight gain is not just about drugs, the tablets it’s because like for example in hospital the only thing that I had any control on was food so, you know, I was eating nine bars of Twix at once which is like …my God, you know how can anyone do that. I mean before, before my episode I was 55 kilos which has doubled and of course that’s not just about the tablets it's also about, you know, using food as.. well …comfort, sometimes comfort and sometimes a way to harm myself as I said with the Crohn’s. So I mean the weight gain and stuff, you know, I think it’s more complex than, you know, but from what I’ve read the classic sort of [um] side effects of like olanzapine is weight gain and I’ve never met anyone who has been on olanzapine and not gained weight.

I:	Is it because it, does it increase your appetite or do you think it’s the effect of just taking the drugs?

R:	I think it makes you crave sugar.

I:	Yes.

R:	I mean it kind of changes your metabolic, you know metabolism so [um] yes.

I:	Is the venlafaxine different, because you’re on that currently, would you say that has the same effect?

R:	Yes actually [um] when I stopped the mirtazapine which I think having probably not as much as the olanzapine but has, you know, it is kind of it makes you put on weight through the crave I guess [um] what was I wanting to say, when I stopped the mirtazapine which I was taking at night my appetite was a lot, was lowered I mean it was, I could notice that I wasn’t, I didn’t want to eat so much.

I:	You stopped taking it when you started taking the other one, the venlafaxine?

R:	No the venlafaxine I was taking together with the mirtazapine.

I:	Oh you cut of the mirtazapine but continued with the xxxxxxx?

R:	Yes, when I cut out the mirtazapine I noticed a dramatic change in my appetite.

I:	Yes and all the while all along all these different changes have the dosages also been changing at various points?

R:	Yes, yes.

I:	So increasing to try and get a better effect or what?
Tape 2  25.14
R:	Yes I mean it was always this idea of getting to the ‘therapeutic dose’ or whatever it’s called, you know, but apparently if anything I’m the only, as I said, the only I guess the venlafaxine and the mirtazapine where helping but probably they started helping really when I started taking the lithium because that’s my understanding of why they prescribed lithium together with antidepressants… in people who are not bipolar apparently has a better therapeutic effect when they’re prescribed it together with antidepressants but, you know, again [um] you know, I can’t put my finger on what happens it’s just.

I:	What are your feelings now then about the future is it something that you consider that you’re likely to take for the foreseeable future, forever…. as part of your on-going life?

R:	I think I, I think, you know, I would like to talk to, hopefully this woman is coming back to work so I can, you know, see somebody regularly and not see somebody and a different person every six months if they have to take, you know,  like locums. And I guess I’ll have to, you know, I’ll have to talk to her about it [um] interestingly this woman that I‘m going to see she has mental health problems herself.

I:	The psychiatrist?
Tape 2   26.49
R:	The psychiatrist yes and that’s why she’s off sick. Apparently she’s very good she’s very [um] …. and sympathetic.

I:	So you think that would make a difference if the health professional that you’re working with has had that experience?

R:	Yes my GP has mental health problems.

I:	What difference does, do you find it makes?

R:	Well a) I can joke about medication with them.

I:	What say more about that, what do you mean?

R:	Well, you know.

I:	You can be a bit flippant and they know what you mean?

R:	Yes, yes and, you know, I say paranoia, I say paranoid and they go oh paranoid, you know [um] or I can, you know, apart from that the serious sort of side of it is that I think they’re more likely to, especially the GP whereas, you know, not many of them know a lot about mental health I think it’s, it’s very important that.

I:	It sounds like you’ve had some quite mixed experiences with a variety of different health professionals.
Tape 2   27.54
R:	Yes, I have yes, I mean my GP is brilliant [um] you know, the woman that I saw for two and a half years, the psychologist again is brilliant and the psychiatrist that I’ve had is brilliant but some others, I mean the nurses in the hospital were just useless, you know, I mean it was like, you know, I’m not anti -staff but I’ve had some poor experiences, you know, but also I’ve been lucky.

I:	Is it to do with not feeling listened to or not joining in and being able to make decisions together?
Tape 2   28.36
R:	Yes, yes and not, for example in the hospital it’s like, you know, there was no interaction there was no interaction with the patients, you know, the only time when there was interaction was when they were administered [um] drugs and, you know, the rest of the time, it was mostly with the unqualified assistants that there was some interaction [um] but the others were just, you know, sitting in this room which was the nurses office drinking coffee and looking at a computer. I mean I know they have a lot of work, I know they, they are pressurised, you know, I know all that but on the other hand it was, I mean the whole environment it was totally un-therapeutic and unsafe as well, you know.

I:	Unsafe in what way?
Tape 2    29.28
R:	Unsafe in the sense that, you know, there was emphasis on the physical security if you like although I managed to escape twice but, you know, the kind of relational security and kind of internal security there was no, there was no [um] sort of attention.

I:	It sounds like you were being kept there and given drugs?

R:	Yes.

I:	More or less.

R:	Yes, not just that yes.

I:	The treatment

R:	Oh no that was it, although in my care plan which I discovered later that I had a care plan but I didn’t know although I was supposed to be given a copy [um] there was something to do with the psychological support. So I was supposed to be referred for psychological support when I was in hospital.

I:	But you didn’t get that?

R:	No, no it never happened.

I:	It sounds quite unsatisfactory. I mean one of the questions that we, I’m looking at the clock because I’m conscious that you have got another appointment as well.

R:	Are you doing any projects on the quality of care I could take part in?

I:	Well I was just going to say one of the questions that we always ask at the end of the interview is, you know, if you had a message, if you could give a message to health professionals working within the mental health arena especially in terms of the ones that are kind of dishing out the drugs, what would be your message, what would you like to be able to say? Based on your experiences.
Tape 2    30.58
R:	[Um] I think, you know, I think I would say that yes in order to be in this trade or in this profession especially, you know, in secondary care where, you know, people are acutely unwell, you know, professionals need to be able to tolerate distress to start with and I guess if they managed that then, you know, they’ll hopefully they will understand that, you know, it’s very important that people are given information about things [um] they, I know that you know there’s a lot of talk about ‘choice’ and all that stuff and especially, you know, when you’re sectioned under the mental health act you haven’t got a choice and you haven’t got any rights basically. [Um] but people yes.

I.	It sounds like for you there wasn’t any or a lack of information given to you about your treatment.
Tape 2   32.09
R:	Well I mean, you know, I mean they again in my care plan I discovered that I had a care plan, I’d never, well later on obviously I saw my care plan and I wrote in it but over time in the hospital I was supposed to have a care plan that said that they should have read to me my rights regularly so that I understand them and I should have been told about advocacy, I should have been told about [um] you know, the right to appeal.

I:	Yes, none of that?

R:	No, I mean I was not so, you know, it’s yes I guess, you know, tolerating distress I mean, you know, I think that’s because I understand from having been there that, you know, distress or madness or whatever you want to call that is a very difficult thing to cope with as a professional, you know, because most of the time it’s something that you don't understand so I do understand that but so I don’t know I guess.

I:	Well what about in terms of messages to those people prescribing medication and do you feel like, because it sounds like it’s been a bit hit and miss maybe or that they’ve tried different things?

R:	I think again, you know, it would have been, you know, more helpful if I was informed about these drugs and I knew what they were doing and I knew what, you know what the side effects are so. I don’t believe that I would have been given a choice and I’m not sure whether well perhaps in an ideal world there is this sort of idea of choice or you know like, you know, having a choice of whether to have medication or not to have medication or 
End of tape 2
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what kind of treatment to have but that’s more of my utopia kind of idea given the situation in this country particularly and not just this country? Where, you know, where you have like a medicalisation for distress then, you know, and no alternatives basically, no alternative.
Tape 3   00.22
I:	And I guess when you are in distress it’s very difficult to make decisions anyway even if you had a choice to make the choice.

R:	Yes, you know, I think so but at least [um] or …at least when, when I complain about something to be taken seriously, you know, to be [um] not to be told as I did when I said to somebody in the A&E department, because I was, my suicidality was so high, you know, all the, it was so really painful and I, you know, I said to that nurse that, you know, I think, you know, I’m taking this fluoxetine and, you know, do you think there is a link, you know, between that and my, you know, suicide kind of suicidal thinking and he said oh you just take the tablets and go home because, you know, these are just side effects and they’ll wear off and things, and I’m thinking oh, you know, he didn’t really listen to what I said. 

I:	So you, I mean you because you said earlier that you didn’t think that the GP’s had the, the widest knowledge of?

I:	No I mean this guy was a mental health nurse.

I:	Right, really yes gosh. [Um] last question that I haven’t asked you is [um] about using antidepressants and medication that you’re on and working. Do you have to disclose that you’re on medication, is it a difficult issue?
Tape 2    1.58
R:	Well, well it’s interesting you say that because [um] I mean, you know, I was a professional researcher before I, before I got ill so when I, you know, when I went back to work after getting ill I became what they call a ‘service user researcher’ which by definition people know that I have mental health problems and I’m on medication.

I:	In PPI projects … Public and Patient Involvement Projects?

R:	Yes.

I:	Okay and so that’s, is that your current role?

R:	Yes that’s my current role [um] I work in; can I say where I work?

I:	No.

R:	No okay I work in a university and I have this, I’ve got an honorary appointment with that centre of, research centre and [um] yes that’s what I do. 

I:	So in a way it’s fitted as a part of a research programme that you’re, you can be involved in and it is acceptable in that?

R:	Yes no I was [um] sort of a, actually the person who is running the unit where I am asked me to go and work with her because I, not just because I’d, you know, I’d been mad but that’s one of the main reasons.

I:	And do you talk to other mad people, is that your job,!  I’m only picking up on your language… I hope you appreciate that!  laughs

R:	Yes [laughter] yes.

I:	Okay, does it help, I mean because you, I’m just sort of flipping the coin I suppose because you did say that it helps to speak to health professionals when you know that they’ve experienced these issues so I’m guessing as a researcher that if you’ve experienced those kind of issues and you’re talking to other service users that must be quite rewarding for you both maybe?
Tape 3   3.53
R:	Yes, I mean you I have noticed a change in people when they are service users [um] I tell them, you know, I’ve used services there is a change in the way they are somehow.

I:	Change in what sense?

R:	[Um] I think not all of them but a lot of them seem to become more open and less defensive.

I:	Because it’s like ‘you’re one of us?’

R:	[Um].

I:	In a way?

R:	In a way yes in a way.

I:	But that you understand possibly more than somebody who hasn’t?

R:	Yes I think probably they do yes, I mean yes.

I:	I guess you can ask a different rate of questions if you’ve been in that situation.
Tape 3   4.35
R:	Yes I think you probably, and there are things that, again I guess you know there are two sides of the coin because [um] I was reading something in a paper where, you know, they kind of looked at what the impact was of service users interviewing service users and of course there is one, you know, the kind of better rapport that you may have and all that, on the other hand people, some people were kind of withholding information because they were thinking that they might, you know, kind of make the other person upset.

I:	Of course yes.

R:	So, you know, it depends, I don't think and to be honest I don't think that, you know having had experiences of madness or whatever you want to call it, you know, it is a different way of knowing but I don’t think it’s a unique way of knowing.

I:	No it’s just maybe you’ve got some insight that other people might not have.

R:	Yes, yes.

I:	[Um] I’m just sort of clock watching I don’t want to hold up your next appointment.

R:	No it’s alright, it’s alright.

I:	Is there anything that we haven’t talked about that you want, you know, about medication that you haven’t discussed?


Tape 3    5.53
R:	About medication [pause 3 secs] yes I guess there are, it’s very, it’s difficult I think it’s, because sometimes, you know, for example because I, you know, I’m involved in [um] in an editorial collective which is we kind of [um] it’s a collective for [um] a mental health publication called Asylum.  And Asylum is a kind of radical kind of mental health publication and it, you know, because I mean it’s like the magazine for  democratic psychiatry and, you know, sometimes people think that oh you know if you’re involved with this you’re against medication or, you know you’re against psychiatry. Well I think, you know, I’m not against psychiatry I mean, you know, I guess I am critical of a lot of practices of psychiatry but I’m not necessarily and I’m not necessarily against medication but I think especially, you know, especially with the sectioning if I didn’t want to take medication when I was sectioned they would have injected me because you can’t refuse so I guess there are some serious violations I think of human rights if you take it to that kind of, well yes because so there are these things with medication, you know, where people are not given a choice. And of course there’s all this stuff with community treatment orders now where, you know, people are put on community treatment orders because, okay they don’t want to take their medication but if they are under the community treatment order they are really in reality sectioned but under the community. But if, so they have to take to the clinic and have the depo and, you know, if they don’t do that they can be revoked then, you know again.

I:	It’s controlling.

Tape 3 8.02
R:	It’s very controlling, I mean it’s very [um] and there was no as I said there’s no negotiation, of course I mean there’s the politics of it and there is the big pharma and, pushing from all this. I mean I don’t I’m not saying that, you know, sometimes I guess for some people and I guess I’m included in that apparently with the lithium [um] medication works. So, but I guess people need to be able to be more informed, need to be able to have alternatives and given [um] other ways as, you know, like more psychological or kind of treatments to get at …with the medication because I think if I hadn’t asked for it I wouldn’t have been offered, so you know, I think there are quite a lot of, a lot of complex kind of issues with medication. Especially when, you know, when somebody’s detained and, you know, you don’t have any choice.

I:	Yours is a very interesting story and you’ve articulated it really well as well. Thank you for taking part in the interview. I don’t want to I think, you know, it would be easy, I could spend another hour chatting to you about this but I know that we are both constrained by time so is that okay for you if we stop there?

R:	Yes, yes, yes of course.
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